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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COUR’Ii
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OJ FLORIDr

0.C.

‘ D by ———
COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING ]FM y
ON . .
COMMISSION, g |
P]ail’lti_fﬁ \l wTEVEN M, !_Ax"-‘MQ_aE g
V.

PHILIP MILTON, WILLIAM CENTER,

. CIVIL ACTION NO.:
GREGORY CENTER, and TRADE, LLC. ‘

l

|

|

i

i

|

|
COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE AND
OTHER EQUITABLE }?ELI_EF AND FOR
CIVIL PENALTIES UMDER THE
COMMODITY EXCI-IzlfNGE ACT. AS
AMENDED. 7 U.S.C. §f§l-25

Defendants,

BD, LLC, CMT Capital, LLC, Center
Richmond, LLC, and TWTT, LLC.

Relief Defendants.

vvvvvvuvvvuvvvvuuv

|
|
|
|
!
l

Plaintiff, Commodity Fuiures Trading Commission (“Cn‘)mmission’{ or “CFTC™), by its
|
attomeys, alleges as follows: |

I. SUMMARY !
1. From May 2, 2007 through July 9, 2009 (“rclevant period”):i deféndants Philip
Milton (“Milton”), William Center, Gregory Center, and Trade, LLC (“Traigle”) (collectively,
“Defendants™), fraudulently solicited and accepted approximately $28 million from numerous
individuals and entities to participate in a poo] to trade commodity futures (!:ontracts and
securities.

|
|
2. Throughout the relevant period, in order to induce parlicipaigon in the pool, Trade,

through its agents and employees, including Milton, William Center, and C%r.egmy Center, acted
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|
i

|
as an unregistered commodity pool opetator (“CPG™), and owitted materigl facts, including that
Defendants were misappropriaiing pool participant funds. Further, the Detendants made
material misrepresentations, including misrepresenting that the pool was pyofitable when it was
not; misrepresenting how funds loaned to Trade would be used. cl.aiming they would be used for
operaling expenses when they were actually used to pay pool participants as profit; and
misrepresenting and grossly inflating the total funds under management and traded in the pool.

3. Instead of trading pool participant fimds as promised, Miltop, William Center, and
Gregory Center used a portion of the pool participant funds to pay principal and purported profit
returns to existing pool participants in a manner typical of a Ponzi scheme and to pay business
expenses. Additionally, Defendants misappropriated pool participant funds for their personal

use, including paying personal expenses and salaries based on what they clecided they should be

paid rather than using objective criterie.

4. To conceal Defendants’ trading losses, Ponzi scheme, and n‘risapproprialion,
William. Center issued or caused to be issued false monthly staiements am!l/or other reports.
These documents falsely reflected both. highly profitable returns from trading commaodity
futures on behalf of the pool and that the pool was increasing in value and!assets.

3. Contrary to their representations, Milton, William Center, and Gregory Center
actually traded only approximately $15 million of the $28 million in pool participants’ funds
provided to Defendants. Defendants deposited. a large portion of the ﬁ.lnd:la for the benefit of the
following relief defendants: BD, LLC; CMIJ Capital, LLC; Cester Richmend, LLC; and TWTT,

LLC (collectively, “Relief Defendants™). Tradc and the Relicf Defendants are linked to each

other through their corporate officers and were used by the Derendauts as vehicles for

i

misappropriating funds deposited with Trade. :
|

|

? l
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i

6. Through their conduct, Defendants have engaged, are enga;%ed, or are about {0
engage in acts and practices in violation of the anti-fraud provisions of Setctions 4b(a)(2) and
40(1) of the Commodity Exchange Act (the “Act”), 7 U.S.C. 4§ 6(b)(a)(2v’:) and 6¢(1) (2006),

1
and Section 4b(2)(1) of the Act, as amended by the Food, Conservation, &i'nd Energy Act of
2008, Pub. L. No. 110-246, Title XIII (the CFTC Reauthorizaiion Act of 1?008 (“CRA™). §
13102, 122 Stat. 1651 (cnacted June 18, 2008), to be codified at 7 U.S.C. I§ 6(b)(a)(1). Further,
Trade acted as a CPO of the poo) without being registered witia the Conmz-!\ission as such in
violation of Section 4m(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6m(1) (2006 '

7. At all times relevant and in regard to all conduct aJleged hericin, Milton, William
Center, and Gregory Center were agents of Trade and acted w-thin the sccvf;pe of their
employment. As such, Trade is liable for Milton’s, William Center’s, anoi Gregory Center’s
conduct in violation of the Act pursuant to Section 2(a)(1)(B) »f the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(1)(B)
(2006), and Commission Regulation 1.2, 17 C.F.R. § 1.2 (2009). ‘

8. At all times relevant and in regard to all conduct alleged heJ{Lein, Milton and
William Center were in control of Trade. They failed to act in good faith for knowingly induced, |
directly or indijrectly, the acts constituting Tradc’s violations. [herefore, ]Ik/lilton and William
Center arc liable for Trade's violations of the Act pursuant to Section 13(15:) of the Act, 7U.S.C.

|

§ 13c(b) (2006). ‘

9. Relief defendant BD, LLC is not charged with violations of’ :rthc Act. However, it

received funds from Defendants in which it had no legitimate interest ot ehtitlement and which
were derived from Defendants’ fraudulent acts. BD, LLC, therefore, musf,l rclurn and repay
these funds. ;

|

|

|
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10.  Relief defendant CMJ Capital, LLC is not charged with vio!ations of the Acl.
However, it received funds from Defendants in which it had no legitimate, interest or entitlement
and which were derived from Defendants’ fraudulent acts. CMJ Capital, LLC, thercfore, must
return and repay these funds.

11.  Relief defendant Center Richmond, LLC is not charged with violations of the Act.
FHowever, it received fﬁnds from Defendants in which it had n legitimate| interest or entitlement
and which were derived from Defendants’ fraudulent acts. Center Richmand, LLC, therefore,
must return and repay these funds.

12.  Reliefdefendant TWTT, LLC is not charged with violations; of the Act.

However, it recejved funds trom Defendants in which it had no legitimatc interest or entitlement

and which were derived from Defendants’ fraudulent acts. TWTT, LLC, therefore, must retum

and repay these funds. ;

13.  Accordingly, pursuant to Section 6c of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1 (2006), the

Commission brings this action to enjoin Defendants’ unlawful acts and practices and to compel

their compliance with the Act. Tn addition, thc Comunission sccks civil monetary penalties and
other equitable relief, including restitution to pool pz;rﬁcipants, disgorgem&snt of Defendants’ ill-
gotten gains, permanent registration and trading bans, and such. other relicf as the Court may
deem necessary or appropriate. !
|
14.  Unless permanently restrained and enjoined by the Court, Drfendam’s arc likely to

|
continue to engage in the illegal acts and practices alleged in this Complaint, as more fully

described below.
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Il JURISDICTION AND VENUE

15.  The Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sectjon Gc of the Act,
7 U.S.C. § 13a-1 (2006), which authorizes the Comumission to seek injunctive relief against any

person whenever it shall appear to the Comunission that such person has engaged, is engaging,

or is about to engage in any act or practice constituting a violation of any provision of the Act or
any rule, regulation, or order there under. r
16.  Venue properly lies with this Court pursuant to 3ection 6¢(¢) of the Act,
7 U.S.C. § 132-1(e) (2006), in that Defendants are found in, inhabit, or traisact business in this
District, and the acts and practices in violation of the Act have jccurred, ave occurring, or are
about to océur within this District, among other places.
IM. TARTIES
Plaintiff !l
17.  Plaintiff Commodity Futures Trading Commission is a fzderal independent
regulatory agency that is charged by Congress with the administration anc enforcement of the
Act, 7US.C. §§ 1 et seq. (2006), and the Regulations there under, 17 C.I\.R. §§ 1.1 ef seq.
(2009).
Defendants
18.  Defendant Trade LLC is rcgistered as a Limited Liability Corporation in Florida
and operates out of Palm Beach Gardens, Florida. Trade LLC was never registered with the
Commission as & CPO or in any other capacify.
19.  Defendant Philip Milton is an individual who rzsides in Pellm Beach Gardens,

Florida. Milton is a Managing Member of Trade, and, along with other d'ffendants, controls the
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day to day operations of the pool. Mr. Milton has never registered with tklte Commission as a

CPO or in any other capacity. |

20. Defepdant William Center is an individual who resides ianichmond, Virginia.

William Center acted as a Managing Member of Trade and manages Trade’s business planning
|

and comununications. He has never registered with the Commission as a ltl’O or in any other

capacity.

21.  Defendant Gregory Ceuter is an individual who resides inl McLean, Virginia.
Gregory Center is 2 Managing Member of Trade and handled :ssues addr(.l.ssing “products and

services,” including regulatory issues. He has never registerec with the C:ommission asa CPO
|

or in any other capacity.

t
!

Relief Defendants

|
22.  Relief Defendant BD, LLC is a Limited Liability Corporatf}on incorporated in
Florida. It has never registered with the Commission as a CPC or in any (}the_r capacity.

Defendants Gregory Center, William Center, and Milton are registered as bBD, LLC’s Managing

|
Members. Milton is the Registered Agent. |

23.  Relief Defendant CMJ Capital, LLC is a Limiied Liabi]it,lr Corporation
incorporated in Florida. It has never registered with the Cotunission as a]L,PO or in any other

capacity. Defendants Gregory Center, William Center, and Milton are M:-ifnaging Members of
CMI Capital, LLC. Lawrence Taube, former attorney for Defendants, is t?ne Registered Agent.
24.  Relief Defendant Center Richmond, LLC is a Limited Liz}bi]ity Corporation
. incorporated in Florida. It has never registered with the Commission as a :CPO or in any other
|

capacity. Defendants Gregory Center and William Center are ‘Vanaging Members of Center

i
|
|
|
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Richmond, LLC. Mjlton was the Registered Agent until July 19, 2009, u;hen Lawrence Taube,
former attomey for Defendants, was substituted as the Registered Agent. ;

25. Relief Defendant TWTT, LLC is a Limited Liability Con%oration incorporated
in Florida. It has never registered with the Comunission as a CPO ot in atlly other capacity.
Defendants Gregory Center, William Center, and Milton are Managing M %embers of TWTT,
LLC. Milton was the Registered Agent untﬂ April 29, 2009, vshen Lawrence Taube, former
attomey for Defendants, was substituted as the Registered Agent. .

IV. FACTS

Formation of the Pool
26.  Section la(5) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 1a(5) (2006), defines a!“com.modity pool
operator” as any person engaged in a business that is of the naiure of an. ir.;lvestment trust,
syndicate, or similar form of enterprise and in connection therewith, has s:plici.ted, accepted or
received funds, securities or property from others for the purpuse of tradir?lg in any commodity
for future delivery on or subject to the rules of any contract market or derigvaﬁves transaction

execution facility.

27.  OnMay 2, 2007, Milton and Gregory Center formed Trade %n Florida. Milton
and Gregory Center were named Managing Members. Williarn Center: wzis not named in the
Articles of Incorporation but, by his own admission, acted as 2 Managing Member. Trade was
organized to commercialize a futwres and secwwities trading systemn des; gn'}Ld by Milton.

28.  Gregory Center, William Center, and Milton gave trading arﬁwce tr aded futures
and/or traded securities through Trade. Defendants Tradc, Gregory Ccntc;, William Center, and

Milton also pooled various individuals® funds for the purpose «f trading mpmmodity futures, as

well as equities, with these pooled funds.
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29.  Milton traded commaodity futures accounts in thz: name of Jirade at Penson GHCO
and Velocity Futures LLC. Both of these entities ar;: Futures Commission Merchants
(“FCMs™) registered with the CFTC.

30.  From approximately May 18, 2007 through July 9, 2009, Gregory Center,
William Center, and Milton traded on behalf of pool participauts. The pgol participants
included, but were not limited to, four investment clubs consisting of at least 2,000 individuals.
Gregory Center, William Center, and Milton claimed that Trade would pgol the poo!

participants’ funds and trade in commodity futures or equities. Milton traded the futures

accounts. Gregory Center and William Centex only traded equity accounts.

31.  Throughout the relevant period, when Trade accepted money from pool
!

participants for pwposes of trading in the pool, none of the Defendants re:gi stered in any

capacity with the Commission.

i

Fraudulent Solicitations !

32.  During the relevant period, William Center, Grezory Center, and Milton directly

and inditectly soliciled approximately $28 million from pool ptm'iciptm’ts:.,J1 primarily from the
four investment clubs. The funds were solicited to invest in the commodilry pool to trade
securiﬁ es and commodity futures on pool participants’ behalf. The $28 ufillion also included
funds solicited as “sced” money to capitalize Trade and to keen the busincfss operating until it
was self sufficient. The seed money totaled between $1.7 million and $3 million, and was
memorjalized with Promissory Notes that typically provided fir a return ¢.f 2% per month.
33. Gregory Center, William Center, and Milton directly solicited Cash Flow
Finaneial, LLC (“Cash Flow"), an investment club the CFTC believes consists of over 600

members, through at least one direct mailing dated February 18, 2008. ’
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34. Gregory Center directly solicited Cash Flow and its pri.ncip‘bl, A.J. Watson, on at
least one occasion, through a letter dated March 6, 2008. Gtegory Ccntcr’%s letrer stated that he is
Trade’s general counsel and confirmed that Trade operates in a legal and ethical manner.

35.  Gregory Center and William Center directly sol:cited pool ]i?articipants through at
least two seminars to New Life Club, LLC (“New Life), an investment cl,lub of 1,400 members.
New Life also ultimately provided pool participant funds to Trade for a cr;\mmodity pool.

36.  Milton and William Center directly solicited pocl pari.icipar;ts through conference

calls, including a December 10, 2008 call with A.J. Watson and Cash Flo:w members.
37.  Milton directly solicited customers through a speech he gav%-: at a New Life

convention explaining how his system worked. :
38.  Gregory Center directly solicited potential pool ]t.articipantsiby ficlding and

responding to their legal advisors’ questions, and by explaining to potentil pool participants
how Trade’s business model complied with federal regulations. :

39.  Gregory Center, William Center, and Milton directly solici téd pool participants
|

through an open house held in or around March 2009, attcnded by approx:!mately 150 people
|
including New Life members, Cash Flow members, family, and friends. !

40.  Gregory Center indirectly solicited pool participants througﬁ his work helping

A.J. Watson draft promotional materjal for Cash Flow. .
41.  Gregory Center, William Center, and Milton indirectly solic;ited pool participants
|
through their work helping New Life draft material to be posted on. its website.

42.  Atvaminimun, Defendants made the following false or misl%ading

representations in their solicitations: ;
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Gregory Center, William Center, and Miiton falsely
compliance with CFTC registration requirements;
Gregory Center, William Center, and Milton falsely

pool was profitable when it was not;

|

1875

PAGE 18

claimed to be in

represented that the

William Center sent participants fraudulent documents supporting

Defendants' claim that the pool was profilable when

it was not; and

Milton sent money to the pool participants, identifying the money as

profits when in fact it was other participznts’ mom’.y| invested with Trade.
|

At a minimum, Dcfendants omitted the following material 'f"%cts from their

a.

Gregory Center, William Center, and M;lton failed -
that they were using participants’ funds for their per:
paying themselves a salary of up to $10,000 per mor
funds to pay expenses;

Gregory Center, William Center, and Milton failed
the pool was Josing money;

Gregory Center, William Center, and Milton failed t
they were using pool participants’ funds 1o pay princ
profit returns to existing pool participants in a manuve

scheme.

Trade, through its agents and employees, including Gregory

o disclose the fact
onal use, including

\th and using pool
) disclose the fact that
» disclose the fact that
ipal and purported

1 typical of a Ponzi

Center, William

Center, and Milton, acted as a CPO. As such, it owed a fiducjacy duty to p}ool participants. It

was obligated to disclose all material information to participants. Pool participants would have
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1875

found it joportant to learn that the pool was not profitable, that Trade was not in compliance

with the relevant federal regulatory agencies, that participant junds were !
through the Relief Defendants and tm'ougll a participant payotf scheme ty;
scheme, and that William Center circulated fraudulent documents falsely
was profitable. Consequently, Trade should have disclosed this material ;
provide this juforroation is a material and fraudulent omission.
45.
funds under management, Gregory Center, William Center, and Milton w
large sums of the funds invested by pool participants.
46.  Despite taking in approximately $28 million in participant {
William Center, and Milton placed only a fraction of the funds into tradin
47. Gregory Cenier, William Center, and Milton knew that theis
untrue, ot were reckless with regard 1o the truthfulness of their solicitatior
controlled the trading accounts and saw the trading results during the reler
Therefore, they knew that their trading was unsuccessful. Defendants alsc
disregarded the fact that they were not registered with the National Future
were not in compliance with CFTC registration requirements as claimed.
as controlling persons, Miltbn and William Cenpler failed 1o act in good fai
induced, directly or indirectly, the acts constituting Trade’s viclations.
Misappropriation
48.

Gregory Center, William Center, and Milton tol¢ prospectiv

they intended to keep a commission based on profits. Trade wits only prol

11

heing misappropriated

pical of a Ponzi
showing that the pool

nformation. [Failure to

1 . | . .
Contrary to their claims of successful trading, profitable retlirns, and increasing

=re misappropriating

unds, Gregory Center,
3 ACCOUNts.
 solicitations were

s, because they

rant period.

knew or recklessly

5 Association and thus
Further, while acting

th or knowingly

5—

participants that

b

itable two months of

16:23 Se1 478

68783
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i
the relevant period. However, Gregory Center, William Center, and Milt«‘im took a commission
. |
in months other than the two profitable months. |

49, Gregory Center, William Center, and Milton compensated themselves on a

monthly basis without regard to whether Trade was profitable. Rather, Gregory Center,
|

William Center, and Milton determined how much they wanted to take as,}a draw, taking up to

$10,000 a month. Additionally, they used Trade funds to pay their cxpensles. In total, Gregory

Center, William Center, and Milton paid themselves approximately §9.6 nrtlillion in salary and

expenses. Thus, instead of trading pool participants® funds as promised, ('lrregory Center,

.

William. Center, and Milton used participant funds for salary and expenses
50.  Instead of trading pool participant funds as promised, Gtch‘lry Center, William
Center, and Milton used pool participant funds to repay principal and pay l)urported profitable

returns to cxisting pool participants in a manner typical of a Ponzi schemell

- 51, Gregory Center, William Center, and Milton knew that they!werc

misappropriating participant funds because they used the funds for purposes other than trading.
Further, while acting as controlling persons, Milton and Williarn Center faiiled 1o act in good
faith or lcnowingly induced, directly or indirectly, the acts consiituting the :kriola.tions.

52. Gregory Center, William Center, and Milton use«{ relief dcfe(ndants BD, LLC,
CMJ Capital, LLC, Center Richmond, LLC, and TWTT, LL.C us a means +'f misappropriating
pool participanis’ funds. Approximately $6 million was paid to the Relief %Defendmlts in the

form of salarics, business expenses, and other fraudulent expenses. |
|
|

12
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|
|
Issuance of False Account Statements |

53.  TFrom the inception of the pool, William Center issued monlpaly account

statements to participants. Those stalements falsely indicated that the pool participants were
|

profiting and that the pool was increasing in size. '

54, William Center knew thet thc monthly account statements werc unirue, or was

reckless with regard to their truthfulness, because he, along with Milton, dontrolled the trading

accounts and saw the trading results during the relevant period. Thcreforei!, he knew that their

trading was unsuccessful. |

V. VIOLATIONS OF THE AT £
COUNT ONE

Fraud in Connection with Futures Contracts |

|
(Violations of Section 4b(a)(2) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2) (2006), axid Section 4b(a)(1) of
the Act, as amended by the CRA, to be codified 2t 7 U.S.C. % 6h(a)(1))

55.  Paragraphs 1 through 54 are re-alleged and incorporated ]'I_EJJ]eiIJ.

56.  Itis a violation of the Act and Act, as amended by the CRA/ for any person, in or

'

in connection with any order to make, or thc making of, any on-sxchange thures contract, for or

on behalf of any other person: (i) to cheat or defraud or attempt io cheat or !defraud such other
- |

person; (1) willfully to make or cause to be made to such other merson any false report or

statement thereof, or willfully to enter or cause to be entered for such person. any false recoxd
i

thereof; or (iii) willfully to deceive or attempt to deceive such other person :by any means

whatsoever in regard to any such. order or contract or the disposition or exe!:ution of any such

order or confract, or in regard to any act or agency performed with respect {0 such order or

contract for such person. Section 4b(a)(2)(1), (ii), and (iii), 7 U.3.C. §§ 613(.%1)( 2)(i). (i), (1L)

(2006) (with respect to conduct before June 18, 2008); and Section 4b(a)(1)|(A), (B) and (C) of
| .

13 :
|
f
|
I
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the Act, as amnended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(1)(A;
respect to conduct on or after June 18, 2008).

57.  Asalleged above, dwring the relevant period, Milton, Gregc

1875

, (B), and (C) (with

ry Center, and

William Center knowingly, or with reckless disregard for the truth, violated Sections 4b(2)(2)(i)

and (iii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(2)(i) and (iii) (2006), with respect to

June 18, 2008, and Sections 4b(a)(1)(A) and (C) of the Act, as simended by

acts occurring before

the CRA, 10 be

codiffed at 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(1)(A) and (C), with respect to acts occuring 1mn or after June 18,

~

2008, by, among other things, (1) omitting material information, including
misappropriating pool participant funds; (2) falsely representing, that they v
from trading on behalf of the pool and pool participants; (3) misappropriati

funds by using such funds to pay principal and purported returns to other pi

the fact that they were
yere generating profits
ng pool participant

»o] participants; and

(4) misappropriating pool participant funds to pay business expenses and f(-fr personal use.

58.  Asalleged above, duting the relevant period, Wiiliam Cente
reckless disregard for the truth, violated Section 4b(a)(2)(ii) of the Act, 7U
with respect to acts occurring before June 18, 2008, and Section 4b(a)(1)(B
amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. § 6h(a)(1)(B), vith respeci
or after Tune 18, 2008, by issuing or causing to be issued false account state,
reflecting positive returns for the pool and increases in the value of pool paj

59.  Milton, Gregory Cenfer, and William Center were acting as |
they violated the Act as alleged in this count, and, therefore, Trade, as their

their violations of Sections 4b(a)(2)(i)-(iii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. +§ 6b(a)(2)

Sections 4b(a)(1)(A)-(C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, to be codifiec

14

S61 478

'\'knowingly, or with
.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(ii),

) of the Act, as

10 acls occurring on
ments and reports
ticipanis” interests.
1gents of Trade when
principal, is liable for
i)-(iii) (2006), and

at 7U.S.C.

5878
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§§ 6b(2)(1)(A)-(C), pursuant to Section 2(2)(1)(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(1)(B) (2006), and
|

Comymission Regulation 1.2, 17 C.F.R. § 1.2 (2009).

60.  Milton and Williarn Ceunter were in control of Trade, directly or indirectiy, and

did not act in good faith or knowingly induccd, directly or indir=ctly, Tradirr"s conduct alleged in

this Complaint; ﬂlerefqrc, pursuant io Section 13(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § i*lSc(b) (2006), Milton

and William Center are liable for Trade’s violations of Sections: 4b(a)(2)(i$-(iii) of the Act, 7

U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(2)(i)-(ii1) (2006), and Sections 4b(a)(1)(A)-(C) of the Act,i'as amended by the

CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(2)(1)(A)-(C), pursuant ic: Section 2(;5')( 1)(B) of the Act, 7
.

U.S.C. §.2(a)(1)(B) (2006). ,

61.  Each misrepresentation or omission of material fact, issuan%e of a false statement

or report, and misappropriation, including but not limited to those speciﬁcahly alleged herein, is
alleged as a separate and distinct violation of Sections 4b(a)(2)(i)-(iii) of th%a Act, 7U.S.C.

|
§§ 6b(a)(2)(1)-(iii) (2006), with respect to acts occurring before June 18, 2C1'08, and Sections

4b(a)(1)(A)-(C) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.E:i.C. §§ 6b(a)(1)(A)-

i

(C). with respect to acts occurring on or afier June 18, 2008. <
|
COUN 0 |

~ Fraud By Commodity Poel Operator ‘
(Violatious of Section 40(1)(A) & (B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 69_(1)(}&) & (B) (2606))

62.  Paragraphs 1 through 61 are re-alleged and incornorated hersin.

'

63.  During the relevant period, Trade, through its 2gents and emiployecs, including

|

Milton, Gregory Center, and William Center, acted as a CPO for the pool by soliciting, accepting

or receiving funds from others and engaging in a business that i« of the nature of an investment
i
i

1

|
1
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trust, syndicate, or similar form of enterprise, for the purpose of trading in commodities for
future delivery on or subject to the rules of a contract market. .l

64.  Asalleged above, during the relevant period, Tr.de, througﬁ its agents and
employees, including Milton, Gregory Center, and William Center, emplo;l['cd a device, scheme
or artifice to defraud prospective and existing pool participants, or engagec!! in a transaction,
practice or course of business that operated as a fraud or deceit upon prosp»:sclive and exisling
pool participants in violation of Sections 40(1)(A) & (B) of the Act, 7 U.S‘ip. §§ 60(1)(A) & (B)
(2006), by (1) omijtting material information, including the fact that Defen(}lants were
misappropriating pool participant funds; (2) falsely representiny; that Defer#dmnts were generating
profits from their trading on behalf of the pool and pool participants; (3) m%sappropriating pool
participant funds by using such funds {o pay principal and purported retum%s to other pool
participants; and (4) misappropriating pool participant funds to pay busines’;s expenses and for

i

personal use. ;

65.  Inaddition, Trade, through its agent William Cester, emplo;i(ed a device, schemc
or artifice to defraud prospective and existing pool participants, or engaged| in a transaction,
practice or course of business thet operated as a fraud or deceit upon prospn}bcﬁ\'e and existing
pool participants in violation of Sections 40(1)(A) & (B) of the Act, 7 U.S.':D. §§ Ga(1)(A) & (B)
(2006), by issuing or causing to be issued false account statemeuts and rep(»iSItS refiecting positive
retwns for the pool and increases in the value of pool participauts’ inte.rests.i.

66.  Milton, Gregory Center, and William Center were acting as jagents of Trade when
they engaged in the violative conduct alleged in this count and, therefore, ’I%rade, as their

!
principal, is liable for their conduct in violation of Sections 40(1)(A) & CB)-% of the Act, 7 U.S.C.

1
t

16 !
!
|
|
|
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|
|
§§ 60(1)(A) & (B) (2006), pursuant to Section 2(a)(1)(B) of the Act, 7 U.S!].C. § 2(a)(1)(B)

(2006), and Commission Regulation 1.2, 17 C.F.R. § 1.2 (2009). |

67.  Milton and William Center were in control of T-ade, directlgr or indirectly, and
did not act in good faith or knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, Tradfé’s conduct alleged in
this Complaint; therefore, pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § ,i13c(b) (2006), Milton

|
and William Center are liable for Trade’s violations of Section: 4o(1)(A) & (B) of the Act, 7

U.S.C. §§ 60(1)(A) & (B) (2006), pursuant to Section 2(a)(1)(E) of the Ac';, 7U.S.C.

§ 2(a)(1)(B) (2006). Z

!
68.  Each misrepresentation or omijssion of material {act, issuance of a false statement

or report, and misappropriation, including but not limjted to these speciﬁcz!ﬂly alleged herein, is

alleged as a separato and distinct violation of Sections 40(1)(A] & (B) of tl’n.e Act,7U.S.C.

88§ 60(1)(A) & (B) (2006).
COUNT THREE ;
Failurc to Register As a Commodity Paool Operato]ir
(Violation of Section 4m(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § Gm:(l))

69.  Paragraphs 1 through 68 arc rc-alleged and incorporated he1§ei_n.

70.  Section 4m(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6m(1) (200%), provide:L that it is unlaw/ful for

!

any CPO, unless registered under the Act, to make use of the mails or any JLneans or

\ |

instrumentality of interstate commerce in connection with his business as ag' CPO.

71.  Asalleged, during the relevant period, Trade, through its agTL,nts and employees,

including Milton, Gregory Center, and William Center, acted a= a CPO witbi.n the meaning of
|

Section 1a(5) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 1a(5) (2006), and used the 1nails or ins.‘t.mlnCJltaliiics of
i
17

!
|
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interstate commerce in or in connection with its business as a CPO while ﬁ‘fﬁling 10 register as
such, in violation of Section 4m(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6m(1) (2006). ‘

72.  Milton and William Center were in control of Trade, directlgry or indirectly, and
did not act in good faith or knowingly induced, direct]y or indjrectly, Tradrir’s conduct alleged in
this Complaint; therefore, pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § ll3c(b) (20006), Milton
and William Center are liable for Trade’s violations of Scetion 4m(1) of th"r: Act, 7U.S.C.

§ 6m(1) (2006), pursuant to Section 2(a)(1)(B) of the Act, 7 U.3.C. § 2(a)ql1)(13) (2006).
COUNT FOUR ‘
Qisgﬂb‘rg” 'e"m 1cnt of Funds from Reliof Defend a;!rm

73.  Paragraphs 1 through 72 are re-alleged and incorporated heji[ein.

74.  Defendants have defrauded poo] participants and misappro;%riated pool funds.

75.  Relief defendants BD, LLC; CMI Capital, L1.C; Center Rio!p,mond, LLC; and
TWTT, LLC received funds as a result of the Defendants’ frauciulent condfirlct and
misappropriation, and have been unjustly enriched thereby. !

76.  Relief Defendants have no legitimate entitlemens to or intergst in the funds
received as a result of the Defendants” fraudulent conduct and/cr misapprooriation.

77.  Relief Defendants should be required to disgorge: funds up 1!3 the amount they
received from Defendants® fraudulent conduct and misappropriation, or theE value of those funds

that they may have subsequently transferred to third parties.

VI RELIEF
WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests tkat the Courilt, as authorized by

|
t
|
|
Section 6c of the Act, 7U.S.C. § 13a-1 (2006), and pursuant tc its own cq_lirlitable powers, enter:

|
18 |
|
|
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|

(2) an order finding that all Defendants violated Sections 4b(a)(2)(¢i) and(iii) of the Act, 7

U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(2)(i) and(iii) (2006), and Sections 4b(a)(1)(A) and(C) of téle Act, as amended by
I
the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(1)(A) a0d(C); :

(b) an order findjng that Trade, Milton, and William Center violat(-?:d Sections 40(1)(A) &

(B) and 4m(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 60(1)(A) & (B) and 6m(1) (2006);
(b) an order finding that Trade and William Centcr vio:ated Sectioh 4b(a)(2)(ii) of the
Act, 7U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(ii) (2006). and Section 4b(a)(1)(B) of the Act, as .Lmended by the CRA,

1

to be codified at 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(1)(B); :
(c) an order of permanent injunction prohibiting Defendants, and atpy other person or
entity associated with them, including any successor thereof, {rom engagin;i,g in conduct violative
of the sections of the Act that the Defendants have been al ]egee’ to have vi(!)lated;
(d) an order of permanent injunction prohibiting Defendants from -jpngaging, directly or
indirectly, in: ,
1. trading on or subject to the rules of any registered ex:ri,tity (as that term is
defined in Section 12(29) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 1a(29) (200{6));
2. entering into any transactions involving jutures, optibns, commodity
options (as that term is defined in Commission Fegulation 3!2. 1(b)(1), 17 C.F.R.
§ 32.1(b)(1)) (“commaodity options™), and/or forcign currenc!:y (as described in
Section 2(c)(2)(B) and 2(c)(2)(C)(i) of the Act, £s amended J;by the CRA, to be
codified in 7 U.S.C. §§ 2(c)(2)(B) and 2(c)(2)(C)(1)) (“forexé contracts™) for their

own personal account or for any account in which they have|a direct or indirect

. i
Interest; !
|

19 i

I
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|

3. having any futures, options, commodity options, an:'[i/or. forex contracts

traded on their behalf; :

4, controlling or directing the trading for or on behalf of any other person or

!

entity, whether by power of attomey or otherwise, in any acjlcou.nt involving

futures, options, commodity options, and/or forex contracts{.

3. soliciting, receiving or accepting any furds from anjlf person for the
|
purpose of purchasing or selling any futures, options, conun;odily options, and/or

forex contracts;
6. applying for registration or claiming exemption fronvil registration with the
CFTC in any capacity, and engaging in any activity req_uiringg such registration or

|
exemption from registration with the CFTC except as provided for in Commission

Regulation 4.14(2)(9), 17 C.F.R. § 4.14(a)(9) (2¢09); and !
i
7. acting as a principal (as that term is defined in Commission Regulation

3.1(a), 17 C.F.R. § 3.1(a)(2009)), agent or any ofher officer %Jr employee of any

person registered, exempted from registration or required 1o 1Lbe registeyed with the

CFTC except as provided for in Commission Rejrulation 4. 1%4(21)(9): 17 C.F.R.

§ 4.14(a)(9) (2009),

|

(¢) an order directing Defendants and Relief Defendants, as well asgiany other person or
entity associated with them, including any successor thereof, to djsgorge, pw%usuant to such
procedure as the Court may order, al] benefits received from the acts or practices which

|
constitute violations of the Act, as described herein, and interest theceof from the date of such

violations; !
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. | . .
(f) an order directing Defendants, as well as any other person or entity associated with

[

them, including any successor thereof, to make full restitution, pursuant tolsuch procedure as the

Court may order, to every pool participant whose funds were received by tiiem as a result of acts
|

and practices which constitute violations of the Act, as described herein, al?;ld interest thereon
l
from the date of such violations; |

(2)  An order directing Defendants, and any successors thereof, ko rescind, pursuant to
such procedures as the Court may order, all contracts and agreements, whe'lgher implied or
express, entered into between them and any of the pool participants whosc &unds were received

by them as a result of the acts and practices that constitutcd vio‘ations of th!e Act and Act, as

amended by the CRA, described herein. i

(b) an order requiring Defendants to pay civil monetary penalties upder the Act, to be

assessed by the Court, in amounts of not more than the higher of (1) triple;'the monetaty gain to

Defendants for each violation of the Act or (2) $130,000 for each violatior| of the Act on or

between October 23, 2004 through October 22, 2008, and $140,000 for carth violation of the Act

on or after October 23, 2008; and \

I

(i) an order for such other and further remedial ancillary relief as thfe Court may deem

appropriate.

1

21 |
|
i
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A~

June 2() , 2010

|
|
|
Respectfully submitted, I
|

PLAINTIFF UNITED STATES COMMODITY

FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

[

By: S/Jason Mahoney
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